## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

NATIONWIDE BIWEEKLY ADMINISTRATION, INC., an Ohio corporation; LOAN PAYMENT ADMINISTRATION, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company; and DANIEL S. LIPSKY, an individual,

Petitioners,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S250047

SUPREME COURT
FILED

DEC 18 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division 1, Case No. A150264
Superior Court, County of Alameda, Civil Case No. RG15770490
The Honorable George Hernandez Jr. (retired)
The Honorable Ioana Petrou

#### **ISSUE FOR REVIEW**

Is there a right to a jury trial in a civil action brought by the People, acting through representative governmental agencies, pursuant to the Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq.) or the False Advertising Law (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17500 et seq.), because the People seek statutory penalties, among other forms of relief?

#### INTRODUCTION

The Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") and the False Advertising Law ("FAL") are the primary mechanisms by which the People of the State of California, represented by designated public officials, act to prevent commercial conduct that threatens harm to the state's citizens. The UCL and FAL are modern, equitable statutes, which have been broadly written and construed. Neither affords a statutory right to jury trial.

For over forty years, lower courts have unanimously held that UCL/FAL cases brought by the People, including those seeking civil penalties, are to be tried to the court, not a jury. These holdings were and are consistent with the nature and purpose of the statutes as interpreted by this Court. That unanimity abruptly ended in the case below, when the First District Court of Appeal ("Court of Appeal") held that article I, section 16 of the California Constitution affords a right to jury trial on the issue of liability, but not relief, when the People seek civil penalties, among other forms of relief. (See *Nationwide Biweekly Admin., Inc. v. Superior Court* (2018) 24

Cal.App.5th 438 (Nationwide).) The decision in Nationwide should not stand.

Although the Court of Appeal based its opinion on the "gist of the action" test, it applied that test incorrectly in this instance by singularly focusing on the availability of civil penalties. This Court's precedent teaches that monetary relief, even monetary relief traditionally regarded as "legal," does not alter the gist of an action which otherwise depends upon equitable doctrines. Nor does it lead inevitably to a jury right. A cause of action that sounds firmly in equity should not be severed into its constituent parts and then transformed into one sounding in law based on one of those parts, i.e., a claim for penalties.

The Court of Appeal's opinion is also inconsistent with the history and purpose of the UCL and FAL. These are quintessential examples of statutes sounding in equity. They reflect a contemporary approach to protecting consumers and afford the judicial flexibility needed to address sharp business practices in whatever form they occur. The remedies available under the statutes depend entirely upon equity and are limited in number, so as to allow for a streamlined process. The fact that civil penalties are among those remedies in public enforcement actions does not change the fundamental nature of the statutes. In short, the "gist of the action" under the UCL and FAL is equitable.

In reaching a contrary conclusion, the Court of Appeal relied heavily

on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Tull v. United States*. <sup>1</sup> *Tull*, however, involved principles of federal jurisprudence that do not align with California law. It was not decided under the "gist of the action" test, as understood and refined by this Court, but rather under the Seventh Amendment to the United States Constitution, which does not apply to the states. Other aspects of the analysis in *Tull* also do not hold up under California law, including the attempt to analogize a law enforcement case seeking unliquidated civil penalties to a common law "action on a debt." Tellingly, the majority of other state courts to have considered this issue have distinguished *Tull* or otherwise concluded that a right to jury does not attach.

The Court of Appeal's decision in *Nationwide* is also unwarranted from a practical perspective. California judges have historically decided unfair competition and false advertising cases, an approach that makes sense given the evolving nature of schemes to defraud the public and the depth of legal experience needed to address them. The decision below would require juries to decide questions historically entrusted to courts of equity, involving judges only when equitable findings have already been made. So far as the People can tell, this approach is unprecedented in California law. It is consistent with the legislative intent underlying UCL/FAL actions and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tull v. United States (1987) 481 U.S. 412.

threatens to encumber them with unsettled procedural questions. It also has the potential to ripple out to scores of other remedial statutes in which civil penalties are available. The lower court's decision in *Nationwide* should be overturned.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# I. ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT AND REQUEST FOR RELIEF

On May 15, 2015, the People, represented by the California Department of Business Oversight (the "DBO") and the District Attorneys of Alameda, Marin and Monterey Counties,<sup>2</sup> filed civil complaint against Defendants Nationwide Biweekly Administration, Inc., Loan Payment Administration LLC, and the companies' owner, Daniel Lipsky. Defendants offer debt payment services that purport to help consumers reduce their long-term interest obligations. (*Nationwide, supra,* 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 442.) They advertised these services, in large part, by blanketing the state with direct mailers.

The complaint alleges that Defendants violated the state's consumer protection laws by, among other things: misleadingly implying an affiliation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Two changes in the People's representation occurred after the filing of the complaint: the District Attorney of Kern County joined as additional counsel, and the DBO withdrew. The DBO's withdrawal was part of a larger settlement between that agency and one of the Defendants. (See footnote 5, *infra*; Robert Lux, Department of Business Oversight, letter to Chief Justice Cantil-Sakauye, et al., filed in this case, Oct. 31, 2018.)

with a consumer's lender; over-promising or misstating the amount of savings a consumer could reasonably expect to achieve; and disguising how much Defendants' services actually cost. (Vol. II, Ex. R. at pp. 420-422, ¶ 8-11.)³ The complaint further alleges that Defendants' practices have been the subject of numerous regulatory and law enforcement actions around the country, including a recent lawsuit by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. (*Id.* at p. 422, ¶ 11.)⁴ The complaint also alleges that Defendants were acting without being properly licensed or complying with applicable regulations. (*Id.* at p. 420, ¶¶ 5-6.)

In its current form, the complaint contains four causes of action.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Except as otherwise noted, all references to the record are to volume one or two of the "Exhibits in Support of Petition for Writ of Mandate" filed by Defendants in the case below. Citations will take the following form: "Vol. \_\_, Ex. \_\_, p. \_\_, ¶ \_\_."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The CFPB action went to trial before Judge Richard Seeborg in the Northern District of California in 2017. Judge Seeborg found that Defendants had made a variety of misleading statements in their marketing materials and, as a consequence, imposed injunctive relief and civil penalties. (*CFPB v. Nationwide Biweekly Admin., Inc.*, (N.D.Cal. Sept. 8, 2017) No. 3:15-cv-02106-RS, 2017 WL 3948396, at pp. \*6-9, \*12-13.) Both parties filed appeals, which are pending. (See *CFPB v. Nationwide Biweekly Admin., Inc.*, (9th Cir., filed Mar. 15, 2018, & May 10, 2018) Case Nos. 18-15431 & 18-15887.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As originally plead, the complaint asserted two additional causes of action under the Check Sellers, Bill Payers, and Proraters Law (the "Proraters Law"), a specialized set of statutes in the Financial Code. (See Fin. Code, § 12200 et seq.) Like the UCL and FAL, the Proraters Law is a modern consumer protection statute which authorizes injunctive relief, restitution, disgorgement, and civil penalties, all of which were sought here. (Vol. II,

Three are alleged under the UCL and one under the FAL:

- The first UCL cause of action alleges that Defendants engaged in unfair competition by violating Business and Professions Code section 14701. (Vol. II, Ex. R at pp. 440-441, ¶¶ 121-124.) Section 14701 provides that any written solicitation for financial services that uses the name of a financial lender without permission must include certain clear and conspicuous disclosures. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 14701, subd. (b).) By way of relief, the People seek an injunction and civil penalties. (Vol. II, Ex. R at p. 441, ¶ 123-24.)
- The second UCL cause of action alleges that Defendants engaged in unfair competition by violating Business and Professions Code section 14702. (Vol. II, Ex. R at p. 441, ¶¶ 125-28.) Section 14702 provides that whenever a written solicitation for financial services uses a consumer's loan number or loan amount it also must contain certain clear and

Ex. R at pp. 436-440, ¶¶ 105-120; Fin. Code, §§ 12000 et seq.) It does not afford a statutory right to jury. (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 444.) On October 25, 2018, after this Court granted review, the DBO moved on behalf of the People to dismiss the two causes of action alleged under the Proraters Law. This partial dismissal was part of a larger settlement between the DBO and one of the Defendants. (See Robert Lux letter to Chief Justice Cantil-Sakauye, et al., filed in this case Oct. 31, 2018.)

conspicuous disclosures. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 14702.) Again, the People seek an injunction and civil penalties by way of relief. (Vol. II, Ex. R. at p. 441, ¶¶ 127-128.)

- In the cause of action asserted under the FAL, the People allege that Defendants engaged in various forms of false or misleading advertising, including: misleadingly implying that their services were affiliated with consumers' existing lenders; misstating the nature and amount of fees charged; and misleading consumers about the amount of "savings" they could achieve. (*Id.* at pp. 441-443, ¶¶ 129-130.) By way of relief, this cause of action seeks an injunction and civil penalties. (*Id.* at p. 443, ¶¶ 131-132.)
- The last cause of action is an omnibus claim under the UCL. It alleges predicate violations based on the Proraters Law, the FAL, the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code, § 1770, subd. (e)) and a host of statutes and regulations made applicable to Defendants by virtue of their attempt to operate in California pursuant to a real estate broker's license. (*Id.* at pp. 443-445, ¶ 133-150.) By way of relief, this cause of action also seeks civil penalties and an injunction. (*Id.* at p. 445, ¶¶ 151-152.)

The People restated their requests for relief in a separate prayer. (Id.

at pp. 445-446, ¶¶ 1-10.) In accordance with the operative provisions of the UCL and FAL, the People ask the court to:

- impose an injunction to preclude Defendants from continuing to violate the law (see Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17203, 17535);
- order restitution of all money wrongfully acquired from
   California consumers in violation of the UCL or FAL (see
   Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17203, 17535); and
- impose civil penalties up to \$2,500 for each violation of the UCL or FAL. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17206, 17536.)<sup>6</sup>

#### II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In their answer, Defendants demanded a jury trial on "all issues so triable." (Vol. I, Ex. D, at p. 83 [first amended answer].) The People moved to strike the demand in the trial court. (See, e.g., Vol. I, Ex. K, at pp. 183-198.) After two rounds of briefing, the trial court granted the motion. (Vol. II, Ex. Q, at pp. 414-415 [order].) Thereafter, Defendants sought review by way of writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal.

The Court of Appeal initially denied the writ in summary fashion.

Defendants then filed a petition for review in this Court, which granted the petition and transferred the matter back to the Court of Appeal. (See Supreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Given the dismissal of the two causes of action alleged under the Proraters Law, the People no longer seek disgorgement of profits as a remedy here. (See Fin. Code, § 12105, subd. (b) [allowing disgorgement].)

Court Case No. S239979.) This Court directed the Court of Appeal to issue an order to show cause why a defendant does not have a right to a jury trial "where the government seeks to enforce the civil penalties authorized under Business and Professions Code sections 17206 and 17536 and Financial Code section 12105, subdivision (d)." (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal App.5th at p. 442.)

#### III. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IN NATIONWIDE

The matter was fully briefed and argued in the Court of Appeal. On June 13, 2018, that court reversed its earlier decision, granted the writ of mandate and ordered the trial court to reinstate the demand for a jury trial as to liability, but not relief.

The Court of Appeal issued a published opinion. It began by acknowledging that none of the statutes at issue here contains a statutory right to a jury (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 444) and that none existed in 1850, when the right to jury trial was enshrined in the state Constitution. (*Id.* at p. 445.)

However, the court reasoned that under the "gist of the action" test, because the People are seeking civil penalties, "the statutory causes of action asserted against [Defendants] are legal," rather than equitable, "thereby giving rise to a right to jury trial" under article I, section 16 of the California Constitution. (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 442.) The Court of Appeal concluded, however, that this jury right was limited to liability only,

and not to imposition of relief, including the amount of civil penalties. (Ibid.)

The Court derived "substantial guidance" (Nationwide, supra, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 448) from the United States Supreme Court's decision in Tull. In that case, the Supreme Court held that, under the Seventh Amendment to the United States Constitution, there is a right to a jury trial as to liability, but not relief, when the government seeks civil penalties under the federal Clean Water Act. (Nationwide, supra, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 447-448.) Although the Seventh Amendment is not binding on the states, the Court of Appeal was persuaded that the test in *Tull* was sufficiently similar to the "gist of the action" test to control the outcome here. (Id. at p. 453.) The court found additional support in two California cases: People v. One 1941 Chevrolet Coupe (1951) 37 Cal.2d 283, 286 (1941 Chevrolet), which observed in dicta that "cases involving penalties to the Crown" were triable by jury at English common law; and Grossblatt v. Wright (1951) 108 Cal.App.2d 475, which held that statutory penalties in the form of treble damages were akin to an action on a debt, and also triable at law. (Nationwide, supra, at pp. 453-454.)

A significant portion of the *Nationwide* opinion was spent distinguishing, criticizing or declining to follow other appellate decisions that had *not* found a right to jury trial in UCL or FAL actions brought by the People. (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at pp. 457-461.) These decisions represent over 40 years of jurisprudence, from *People v. Witzerman*, 29

Cal.App.3d 169, in 1972, to *People v. Superior Court (Cahuenga's The Spot*), 234 Cal.App.4th 1360 (*Cahuenga's The Spot*), in 2015. In addition, the Court of Appeal criticized and ultimately declined to "endorse" one of its own decisions, *DiPirro v. Bondo Corp.* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 150, which held there was no right to a jury trial in an action pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 25249.5 et seq., commonly known as "Proposition 65." (*Nationwide*, *supra*, at p. 461-463.) <sup>7</sup>

On September 19, 2018, this Court granted the People's petition for review. In its original form, the issue for review referenced the UCL, FAL and Proraters Law. On November 14, 2018, following dismissal of two causes of action alleged under the Proraters Law (see footnote 5, *infra*), this Court granted the People's request to modify the question presented to remove reference to that Law.<sup>8</sup>

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether Defendants have right to a jury trial under article I, section 16 of the California Constitution is a legal question subject to de novo review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Defendants made other legal arguments not adopted by the Court of Appeal. They contended, for example, that the Seventh Amendment should apply to the states (see Petition for Writ of Mandate, at pp. 36-42) and that potential imposition of "extreme" civil penalties justifies application of criminal due process rights. (*Id.* at p. 35.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Proraters Law remains a part of this case only insofar as it may constitute a predicate offense under the UCL. (See Vol. II, Ex. R. at p. 443, ¶ 135.).

(Nationwide, supra, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 444; Caira v. Offner (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 12, 23.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THERE IS NO RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN ACTIONS BROUGHT UNDER THE UCL OR FAL

### A. There Is No Statutory Right to a Jury Trial

The UCL and FAL are statutory causes of action. The former prohibits "any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising and any act prohibited by Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 17500) of Part 3 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200.) The latter prohibits any "untrue or misleading" statements made with an intent "to induce the public to enter into any obligation" to purchase goods or services. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17500.) Neither affords a statutory right to jury trial. (See *Nationwide*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.4th at p. 444; Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17203, 17206, 17535, 17536.)

### B. There Is No Constitutional Right to a Jury Trial

The Court of Appeal nevertheless concluded that Defendants had a jury right under article I, section 16 of the California Constitution. That provision provides that "[t]rial by jury is an inviolate right and shall be

#### secured to all...."9

"Notwithstanding the breadth of this declaration," this Court has held, not all civil actions are triable to a jury. (Shaw v. Superior Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 983, 994.) Rather, "past California cases make clear that the state constitutional right to a jury trial is the right as it existed at common law in 1850, when the [California] Constitution was first adopted." (Id. at pp. 994-995, quotation marks and citations omitted.) "[W]hat that right is, is a purely historical question, a fact which is to be ascertained like any other social, political or legal fact." (C & K Engineering Contractors v. Amber Steel Co. (1978) 23 Cal.3d 1, 8 (C & K Engineering), quotation marks and citations omitted.) In making this determination, "the court is not bound by the form of the action but rather by the nature of the rights involved and the facts of the particular case - the gist of the action." (Id. at p. 9, original italics.)

# i. Neither of these causes of action existed in 1850

Defendants do not contend that the statutes at issue here existed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Although Code of Civil Procedure section 592 codifies the right to a jury, the scope of the right "embodied in [section 592] parallels the scope of the right" embodied in the California Constitution. (*Shaw v. Superior Court* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 983, 994, fn. 9.) Accordingly, "section 592 provides no independent basis for a right to a jury." (*Ibid.*, quotation marks and citations omitted.)

1850, when the state Constitution was adopted. (See *Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 445.) Nor could they.

The UCL evolved out of a 1933 amendment to, and expansion of, Civil Code section 3369. (See Stats. 1933, ch. 953, § 1, p. 2482; *Kraus v. Trinity Management Services, Inc.* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 116, 130.) Although initially employed in lawsuits between businesses, by the late 1950's, the UCL had come to be seen and used as a consumer protection statute. (See *ibid.*; *People ex rel. Mosk v. Nat. Research Co. of Cal.* (1962) 201 Cal.App.2d 765, 771 (*People ex rel. Mosk*).)

As originally enacted, an injunction was the only form of relief set forth in the UCL. Two other remedies were added in the early 1970's: restitution (see Stats. 1976, ch. 1005, § 1, p. 2378; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17203) and civil penalties, which are only available in actions brought by law enforcement agencies. (See Stats. 1972, ch. 1084, § 2; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17206.)

The FAL developed along a similar trajectory. It grew out the socalled "Printer's Ink" laws 10 of the 20th century and took its current form and

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