SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 8 2019

Case No. S250047

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

NATIONWIDE BIWEEKLY ADMINISTRATION, INC.; LOAN PAYMENT ADMINISTRATION, LLC; DANIEL LIPSKY,

Petitioners,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Real Party in Interest.

First Appellate District, Division 1, Case No. A150264 Superior Court, County of Alameda, Civil Case No. RG15770490

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Nathaniel Garrett (SBN 248211) JONES DAY 555 California Street, 26th Floor San Francisco, CA 94104 Tel: (415) 626-3939 Fax: (415) 875-5700

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

B. The relevant actions here are UCL and FAL governmental actions for civil penalties, not UCL or FAL actions in general.

Retreating, the government next argues that, if it really is the "action" that matters, all UCL and FAL actions are "equitable." It even suggests that this Court has already held as much. (Government Br. at pp. 31–34.)

⁵ One irony for the government is that it would lose on its own statute-based test. If this Court looks for a common-law analogue of a statute aimed at "combatting deceptive commercial conduct," the analogue is the tort of "common law cheating," which comes with the right to a jury trial. (*Abbott Laboratories*, *supra*, 816 N.W.2d at pp. 156, 159.)

But the government's argument on this score suffers from a level-of-generality defect. It defines the "action" at a dizzyingly high level of generality, as if the UCL and FAL authorize only one type of action. (See *id.* at pp. 25–36.) This Court, however, does not define the gist of an action in the abstract; it defines it by looking to "the nature of the rights involved and the facts *of the particular case.*" (1941 Chevrolet, supra, 37 Cal.2d at p. 299, emphasis added.)

At issue in this particular case, as the Court has already said, is the "right to a jury trial where the government seeks to enforce the civil penalties authorized under [the UCL and FAL]." (Order of March 22, 2017 in Case No. S239979, emphasis added). The relevant "action" has to be defined at the proper level of generality, and here it is governmental statutory actions for civil penalties under the UCL and FAL. (*Ibid.*)

This Court's recent decision in *Shaw* proves the point. It reserved for a future case a "gist of the action" question under the Health and Safety Code, and it did so specifically for "the gist of a section 1278.5(g) action *in which damages are sought*." (*Shaw, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1003, emphasis added.) The Court did not assume that all actions brought under the Health and Safety Code were "legal" simply because one "type of action," the one in *1941 Chevrolet*, was "legal." And it did not ask whether section 1278.5(g) in general, or even a section 1278.5(g) *action* in general, is legal

or equitable. It asked the equivalent of whether UCL and FAL actions in which civil penalties are sought are legal or equitable.

This Court's commentary from other UCL and FAL cases—where private parties brought actions for purely equitable relief (see Government Br. at pp. 31-34)—is thus irrelevant. (See 1941 Chevrolet, supra, 37 Cal.2d at p. 303; Donahue, supra, 88 Cal. at pp. 126-127.) For example, the government relies heavily on Korea Supply, which it quotes as having held "[a] UCL action is equitable in nature." (Government Br. at pp. 31-32; see also id. at pp. 34, 58, 59, 70, citing Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1144.) That was true in that context, i.e., "for an individual private plaintiff under the UCL" seeking solely equitable relief. (Korea Supply, at p. 1144.) But as the Court made clear in Korea Supply itself, its discussion (which did not involve the jury right) was "limited to individual private actions brought under the UCL," because "[i]n public actions, civil penalties may be collected from a defendant." (Id. at p. 1148, fn. 6.) In public actions where civil penalties may be collected, that is, the nature of the action changes.

This Court's holding in this case can thus be quite narrow. A statutory action, even one under the same statute, can take many forms. It can be brought by a private party or by the government. It can seek purely legal relief or purely equitable relief. It can even be civil and other times criminal. Not all actions are equal. That is why this case would be

different if a private party had brought an action for purely equitable relief. (Accord Reply Brief in *Tull v. United States* (No. 85-1259), 1987 WL 880534, at p. *3.) But those are not "the facts of th[is] particular case." (1941 Chevrolet, supra, 37 Cal.2d at p. 299, emphasis added.) In this "particular case," as opposed to some generic private-party UCL or FAL case, the "nature of the rights involved" demand a jury trial. (*Ibid.*) That is all this Court must decide.

C. These actions are "legal" no matter what particular form they would have taken in 1850.

Out of affirmative arguments that these actions are really "equitable," the government makes a negative argument—that these actions would not have been a particular *kind* of legal action, "actions of debt," at common law. (See Government Br. at pp. 34–36, 55–57.) The government does not say what it thinks the proper historical analogue for these actions would be—a notable omission considering this Court's "purely historical" test. (1941 Chevrolet, supra, 37 Cal.2d at p. 287.) It says only what it thinks they would not be.

But the government is wrong: These actions would in fact have been actions of debt, as the overwhelming evidence discussed above shows. (Sections I.B–I.C, *supra*; see, e.g., 3 Blackstone pp. *159–160, *261; *Stockwell*, *supra*, 80 U.S. at pp. 542–543; *Poulterer*, *supra*, 16 Cal. at pp. 527–528; *Calcraft*, *supra*, 101 Eng.Rep. at p. 11.)

Nor, contrary to the government's argument, does the action become equitable merely because "civil penalties under the UCL or FAL are not 'sums certain' or 'readily reducible.'" (Government Br. at pp. 35–36.) As an initial matter, the "sum demanded" in this case, as in many actions of debt, is "certain" in the relevant sense: The government demands exactly \$2,500 per violation. (*Chaffee*, *supra*, 85 U.S. at p. 538; see Vol. II, Ex. R. p. 445, prayer ¶¶ 3–4.)

But more importantly, at common law and beyond, "actions for statutory penalties" entail a jury right "both where the amount of the penalty was fixed and where it was subject to the discretion of the court." (*J. B. Williams*, *supra*, 498 F.2d at p. 423, collecting cases; see, e.g., *Stockwell*, *supra*, 80 U.S. at p. 543; 3 Blackstone pp. *162, *167–169.) In this Court, for example, actions for non-fixed amounts were called "ordinary suit[s] at law for the recovery of a debt" and were constitutionally required to be tried by a jury. (See, e.g., *Grim*, *supra*, 19 Cal. at p. 142 [plaintiff seeking \$3,850 but receiving \$2,335]; *Smith*, *supra*, 2 Cal. at pp. 92, 94 [statute providing for an amount "not exceeding \$500"].) That is why modern courts have "not" found "this distinction to be significant," and why they have extended jury protection for "statutory penalt[ies] [that are] not fixed or readily calculable from a fixed formula"—indeed penalties

that use the same factors as the UCL and FAL.⁶ (*Tull, supra*, 481 U.S. at pp. 422–424 & fns. 7–8; see also, e.g., *Bendick, supra*, 558 A.2d at p. 945 ["up to \$5,000 for each day of violation"].)

This conclusion aligns with how this Court treats other types of monetary relief, which need not be fixed to be legal. Punitive damages, for example, remain a "legal remed[y] as to which a right to jury trial would apply" despite being indeterminate. (*Shaw*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1005, fn. 19; see *Curtis v. Loether* (1974) 415 U.S. 189, 190 [jury trial required in an action under a statute providing that "the court may grant as relief... not more than \$1,000 punitive damages"].)

The government's contrary evidence comes in the form of two cases, both of which it misreads. (Government Br. at pp. 35, 55–56.) In *People v. Craycroft* (1852), there was only one type of action authorized, and it was *criminal*. (2 Cal. 243, 244.) Because there was no "provision in the statute authorizing a civil action," a civil action could not be maintained. (*Ibid.*) The Court's conclusion on that score had nothing to do with the penalty not being "certain" in the sense of not being fixed (Government Br. at p. 56); it

⁶ In the Clean Water Act claim at issue in *Tull*, for example, the factors courts use in calculating the amount of the penalty mirror the factors under the UCL and FAL. (Compare *Tull*, *supra*, 481 U.S. at p. 422–423 & fn. 8 ["the seriousness of the violations, the number of prior violations, [] the lack of good-faith efforts to comply," the "economic benefits accrued," and the "economic impact"], with Government Br. at p. 60 ["seriousness of the misconduct; the number of violations; the persistence of the misconduct; the length of time over which it occurred; willfulness; and the defendant's assets, liabilities, and net worth"].)

had everything to do with "the law [having] made no provision for the mode of prosecuting" *any* kind of civil action, whether for a fixed penalty or not. (*Craycroft*, at p. 244.)

The government's citation of Poulterer is weaker still. In that case, the Court held that "civil action[s] for the recovery of money due the State," brought "on behalf of the State[] to enforce the payment" of statutory duties and penalties, are properly brought as "action[s] of debt." (16 Cal. at pp. 521, 527-528, 532.) If that case looks like it helps Nationwide, it is because it does. True, the suit there happened to be for a "determinate" amount, but nothing turned on that fact. (Id. at p. 527; see id. at p. 521; see also Grossblatt, supra, 108 Cal.App.2d at pp. 484-485 & fn. 19.) Indeed, the Court a year later held that jury trials were required in actions of debt for indeterminate amounts, too. (See Grim, supra, 19 Cal. at p. 142.) Poulterer thus proves only that many common-law statutes fixed duties and penalties (just as many common-law statutes fixed criminal punishments). It does not prove that a "sum certain" or "readily reducible" amount was necessary for an action of debt. It plainly was not. (See 3) Blackstone pp. *161–162, *167–169.)

But even if the government were right that this action is not "of like nature' or 'of the same class' as" an action of debt, that does not mean the action is equitable. (Franchise Tax Bd., supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 1012, quoting 1941 Chevrolet, supra, 37 Cal.2d at p. 300.) The government puts

forth no affirmative evidence that this class of actions was tried in courts of equity in 1850. Indeed, it does not even say what "class" of actions it thinks this action falls into. So regardless of the precise common-law form of action, whether debt or something else, the government is stuck with the reality that "[c]ases involving penalties to the Crown" were "tried by a jury" in 1850—and stuck with the conclusion that today's case must be tried by a jury all the same. (1941 Chevrolet, at pp. 291, 295; cf. O'Callaghan, supra, 6 Cal. at p. 66 [jury trial required in a statutory action not for a "given sum," "without regard to [the] form" the action took].)7

D. Previous Court of Appeal opinions are not persuasive.

The government spends much of the rest of its brief arguing that there is a split among California lower courts on the question presented. (See Government Br. at pp. 45–47, 49–51.) That is true, and a good argument in a petition for review. But now that this Court has granted review, it must answer the question presented de novo. And it of course is not bound by Court of Appeal precedent in doing so. (See, e.g., *Crouchman*, *supra*, 45 Cal.3d at p. 1179; *1941 Chevrolet*, *supra*, 37 Cal.2d at p. 303.)

⁷ If this action were not "debt," it would likely be an "action on the case," another legal action triable by a jury "for damages equivalent to [the plaintiff's] loss." (3 Blackstone pp. *160–161; see *Jones v. Steamship Cortes* (1861) 17 Cal. 487, 487, 497–498.) Statutes around 1850 allowed an "action on the case" for indeterminate amounts (e.g., a "sum not less than one hundred dollars"), and were tried by a jury. (See, e.g., Act of Aug. 18, 1856, ch. 169, 34th Cong., 1st Sess., 11 Stat. 138, 139.)

Nor is this lower-court precedent persuasive. The government's cases are either "not on point or did not fully analyze the jury trial issue," as the First District explained at length below. (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at pp. 457–463.) To say that this case represents a "seismic break with precedent" is thus pure hyperbole. (Government Br. at p. 45.)

To start, all cases involving "actions between private litigants" seeking equitable relief are not affected by this case. (Government Br. at p. 45.)

In "virtually all" of the remaining cases, *i.e.*, those involving civil penalties, the courts did not "address[]" the question presented here—"whether there [is] a right to jury trial under . . . article I, section 16 of the California Constitution." (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 459.) They instead "considered only the Sixth Amendment right to jury trial in criminal cases," a different question (involving a different Constitution). (*Ibid.*)

The cases that actually mention the California Constitution are not persuasive either. In two of them, the Courts of Appeal resolved the issue in a paragraph or less and failed to engage with the common-law history or "discuss *Tull* or any other case addressing the right to jury trial in statutory penalty cases." (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 457, citing *People ex rel. v. Superior Court (Cahuenga's The Spot)* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1360, 1384; *People v. Witzerman* (1972) 29 Cal.App.3d 169, 176–177.)

"In only one case that the People cite, [Bhakta], did the appellate court apply the gist-of-the-action analysis" to the UCL in a serious way. (Nationwide, supra, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 459, citing People v. Bhakta (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 973, 978–979.) Bhakta held that the action was equitable because the UCL "provides for only equitable remedies." (162 Cal.App.4th at p. 979.) "Respectfully," however, "this is not an accurate description of the remedies under the UCL" when civil penalties are in play: Historically, equity courts lacked jurisdiction to award civil penalties, and today civil penalties serve legal, not equitable, ends. (Nationwide, at p. 460; see Section I.C, supra.) That explains why Bhakta's only support for its holding was two cases involving private parties and purely equitable relief. (162 Cal.App.4th at p. 979, citing, inter alia, Hodge v. Superior Court (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 278, 281, 284.)

That leaves only *DiPirro*, a private-party, non-UCL/FAL First District case that the First District itself said was both "[not] determinative of the right to jury trial under the UCL and the FAL" and almost certainly wrongly decided. (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at pp. 462–463, citing *DiPirro v. Bondo Corp.* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 150, 163.) *DiPirro* "made no mention at all of *1941 Chevrolet*," miscited *Tull*, and misunderstood the nature of civil penalties. (*Ibid.*) Like the other Court of Appeal cases the government cites, it is therefore neither controlling nor convincing.

E. There are no "severability" or "equity-first" problems because all of the government's claims are legal.

The government next accuses the Court of Appeal of "severing" a single action into pieces, and trying the legal parts first. (See Government Br. at pp. 41–43.) But the court did no such thing. Like the government, it recognized that "we are not dealing with separate *claims* in the sense that one claim for statutory penalties is legal and the other is equitable." (*Nationwide*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 456.) The Court of Appeal instead agreed with the government that this "is not a 'mixed case" because it does not "combin[e]" "equitable and legal [claims]"; and it thus agreed "[o]nly one decision can be made" on Nationwide's liability for all four claims. (Government Br. at pp. 42, 48.) The only disputed question is who the single trier of fact will be for that one decision. And for reasons explained, the Court of Appeal correctly held that it must be a jury. (See also *Raedeke*, *supra*, 10 Cal.3d at pp. 671–675 [the party is "entitled to a jury determination of the issues raised in [all] their . . . causes of action"].)

The court's conclusion does not conflict with—indeed does not even implicate—the so-called "equity-first" policy. That policy arises when there are multiple *claims* in a single case, some legal and others equitable—for example when a plaintiff files a purely equitable action, and the defendant cross-claims with purely legal claims. (E.g., *Connell v. Bowes* (1942) 19 Cal.2d 870, 872.) In that context, "the defendant is entitled to

have the legal issues submitted to a jury," "the plaintiff is entitled to have the equitable issues tried by the court," and the court may "first pass[] upon the equitable issues presented by plaintiff's complaint." (*Thomson v. Thomson* (1936) 7 Cal.2d 671, 681–683.)

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